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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 12-61520-Civ-SCOL A/SNOW

Alfredo Marquez, Jr., individually and on
behalf of all those similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

Flextronics America, LLC, “Subsidiaries of
Flextronics International Holding Corp.
Severance Plan (for RTS Retail Employees),”
Flextronics Severance Plan Committee, Tom
Ezrin, Keith Beatts, Suz Rasey, Sonji Winters,
and Flextronics International Holding, LLC,

Defendants.
/

ORDER GRANTING MOTIONTO DISMISS
Plaintiff Alfredo Marquez is suing his formemployer and related eti¢s, alleging that

their failure to pay him severaa benefits under his former employer’s severance plan violated
several provisions of the Employee Retiremiasbme Security Act (ERISA), 29 U.S.C. § 1001
et seq. Defendants move to dismiss his Sedandnded Complaint for failing to state a valid
claim. (DE 31.) For the reass set forth below, the CoUBRANTS the Defendants’ Motion
(DE 31) andDISMISSES the Second Amended Complawithout prejudice.

BACKGROUND

Marquez is a former employee of Flextran&merica, LLC (Flextronics) who worked as
a retail services techman in the division called “Retail Tanical Services — Verizon Wireless”
(RTS). (DE 28 at 2.) Flextronics had a cant with Verizon Wireless (Verizon) whereby
employees in the RTS division such as Maxuwvould work in Verian stores and provide
technical support to Verizon stomers. For these employeddextronics has created a
severance plan (the Plan), which provides qualifyemployees severance benefits. The Plan is
governed by the Employee Retirement Inconeeusity Act (ERISA). One requirement to
qualify for the Plan is that the employee mustriwluntarily terminated. (DE 28-1 at 4.)
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In May 2011, Marquez receivedletter from Flextronics infoning him that Flextronics
was terminating him and many other employeef@RTS division because Verizon had elected
to terminate its contract with Flextronics.The letter indicated that Marquez’s official
termination date would be August 31, 2011.

This change was precipitated by Verizendeciding to bringthe technical-support
services offered by Flextronics’s RTS divisionhiouse. Verizon thus @hned to hire many of
the Flextronics employees who would be laft] and Flextronics encouraged those employees
to apply for work at Verizon. On June 28, 2011, Verizon contacted many of those employees,
including Marquez, and offered them emphent, starting August 29, 2011. After several
contacted employees complained, Verizon chatigedtart date to September 1, 2011. Verizon
later retracted the September drstlate and returned the start date to August 29. When Verizon
called Marquez about his job offer and emphastbed his start date was August 29, Marquez
complained that this start date was not feadigleause his employment with Flextronics lasted
until August 31. Verizon responded by saying thatAlugust 29 start date was what Flextronics
had told Verizon to do. (DE 28 at 5-6.)

Marquez asserts that there was no legitimatebas reason for Verizon to require a start
date before September 1. He instead alleged/dgraton’s decision to ipiire an August 29 start
date was solely the result of a collusive agreement between Verizon and Flextronics. And he
implies that the agreement’'s purpose wasdémy him and similarly situated Flextronics
employees severance benefits.

Marquez worked through at least August 27, 2011 before accepting the position offered
by Verizon. He filed a timely claim for sevenbenefits under the Rla Flextronics denied
Marquez’s claim on the grounds that he wasigiae for benefits because he “voluntarily
resigned his position prior to the Severance D&&31/11 to work for Verizon Wireless.”ld
at 7.) After unsuccessfully appealing this @énMarquez initiated thisawsuit on August 3,

2012.

Marquez amended his complaint in DecemP@12 so that it now includes six counts

under ERISA and one count under the Declaratory Judgment Act. He sues Flextronics,

Flextronics International Holdg, LLC (Flextronics Iternational), the Flextronics Severance



Plan Committee (the Committee)etiCommittee Members, and the Plafthe Committee is a
named fiduciary of the Plan and is empowereddsignate the plan administrator. (DE 28-1 at
6-7.) The Committee Members are Tom Ezrin, itesident of Total Rewards; Keith Beatts,
Senior Director of FinanceSuz Ramsey, U.S. Benefits Diter; and Sonji Winters, Plan
Administrator.

Marquez'’s six ERISA claims are (1) thBefendants violated ERISA § 510, 29 U.S.C.
8 1140, by interfering with his ptected rights; (2) that Daidants violated ERISA § 404, 29
U.S.C. 8§ 1104, by breaching their fiduciary duti);that Flextronics violated ERISA § 404 by
engaging in self-dealing, therebyeaching its fiduciary duty; (4hat Flextronics, the Plan, and
the Committee violated ERISA by breaching thailutiiary duty to monitor appointees; (5) that
Defendants violated ERISA by breauty their fiduciary duty to fairly decide benefits claims;
and (6) that Defendants are jointly and severkdlple for each other’'s breaches of fiduciary
duty under ERISA § 405, 29 U.S.C. § 1105. Faidk 2 through 4, Marquez uses § 502(a)(3)
as the basis for his cause of actiorr;, @aim 1, § 502; for Claim 5, § 502(a)(1)Bgand for
Claim 6, § 405. As a remedy for the alleged ERISA \dtibns, Marquez askke Court to hold

that Defendants are estopped from arguing thaaruk similarly situated employees failed to

! The Plan can be sued as a separate entity BRISA: “[a]n employee heefit plan may sue or

be sued under this subchapter as an entity.” 29 U.S.C. § 502(d)(1).

2 Although Marquez cites to both § 502(a)(¥)da§ 502(a)(3) in Claim 5, his reference to

§ 502(a)(3) is a typo because the language that follows this reference—that “the class is entitled
to recover benefits due to themmder the terms of the Plan, to enforce their rights under the
terms of the Plan, or to claritpeir rights to future benefitsnder the terms dhe Plan” (DE 28

at 14)—matches 8§ 502(a)(1)(B)’s tarage almost word for word.

% Although denominated as a separate claim,Gbert doubts that Claim 6 as pled is really a
separate cause of action. Claim 6 cites onlg #9)5. (DE 28 at 14.) This section specifies
when a fiduciary is liable for another fiduciarygeeach of fiduciary duties. 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a).

It does not itself authorize a plan participant such as Marquez—or anyone, for that matter—to
sue a fiduciary when that fiduciary lisble for another fiduciary’s breachSee id. In other
words, it describes circumstances in which a fiduciary is liable, but it does not authorize a suit to
capitalize on this liability. Other provisiomd ERISA do authorize such a suit—for example,

8 502(a)(3) authorizes certain pams to sue fiduciaries when they breach a fiduciary duty. So a
plan participant could bring argjle claim against fiduciary X and fiduciary Y under 8§ 502(a)(3),
alleging that X breached one of the fiduciary dupetlined in 8 404 and that Y is liable for X’s
breach under § 405. That claimoperly couples the liability deribed in § 405 with another
provision authorizing the injuredarty to sue. But in Claim 6, Marquez does not cite to an
ERISA provision authoring him to sue. Se DE 28 at 14.) In any event, the Court need not
decide whether Marquez’'s Qtai 6 is properly pled becaeisthe Court concludes that no
Defendant breached its fiduciary duties under ERISA.



work through their termination date; to deemmhand similarly situated employees to have not
voluntarily terminated their emplayent with Flextronics so thahey are eligible for full
severance benefits; to reform the Plan sat tih provides that if Flextronics arranges for
participants to be hired less thane week before their termination date, then those participants
are not considered to have vdiarly resigned; and to order Bmdants to pay him and similarly
situated employees the severaheaefits they were oz “under the Plan agpplied by estoppel

or reformation.” (DE 28 at 9-13.)

Marquez’s final claim again®efendants is brought undire Declaratory Judgment Act
against Defendants. He aske tGourt to declare (1) that laad similarly situated employees
have not voluntarily terminated their employment with Flextrgritesreby making them eligible
for full severance benefits, and (2) that the Fhauld be reformed so that it provides that if
Flextronics arranges for participants to be hiess$ than one week before their termination date,
then those participants are not coesatl to have voluatily resigned. Id. at 15.)

Defendants move to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failj to state a valid claim. (DE 31.)

ANALYSIS

When considering a motion to dismiss undeleRi2(b)(6), the Coumnust accept all of a
complaint’s well-pled factual allegations as traenstruing them in thkght most favorable to
the plaintiff. Pielage v. McConnell, 516 F.3d 1282, 1284 (11th Cir. )0 Under Rule 8(a)(2)
of the Federal Rules of CiviProcedure, a pleading need yrdontain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showingathithe pleader is entitled telief.” Though the Rule does not
require detailed factual allegations, it does require “sufficienu&haehatter, accepted as true, to
state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fac@shcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(brackets, internal citation, and internal taimn marks omitted). “A claim has facial
plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual cent that allows the court to draw the reasonable
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleded(titing Bell Atlantic Corp.
v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)). “Threadbare recitdlhe elements of a cause of action,
supported by mere conclusosyatements, do not suffice.ld. So a pleading that offers mere
“labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic recitationthe elements of a cause of action” will be

dismissed.ld.



Faced with a motion to dismiss, a court shdbktefore “(1) eliminate any allegations in
the complaint that are merely legal conclusioand (2) where there are well-pleaded factual
allegations, assume their veracity and thenrdete whether they plausibly give rise to an
entitlement to relief.” American Dental Association v. Cigna Corp., 605 F.3d 1283, 1290 (11th
Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). Mdover, “courts may infer from the factual
allegations in the complairabvious alternative explanatigne/hich suggest lawful conduct
rather than the unlawful conduct the pl#f would ask the court to infer.”ld. (brackets and
internal quotation marks omitted). “This is acr standard than the Supreme Court described
in Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957), which helsht a complaint should not be
dismissed for failure to statecdaim unless it appears beyond dothxt the plaintiff can prove
no set of facts in support of his clawtich would entitle him to relief."Mukamal v. Bakes, 378
F. App’x 890, 896 (11th Cir. 2010) (internal quixda marks omitted). These precepts apply to
all civil actions, regardless dfie cause of action allegeH#ivisto v. Miller, Canfield, Paddock &
Sone, PLC, 413 F. App’x 136, 138 (11th Cir. 2011).

The Court first turns to Marquez’s clairaleging breaches of fiduciary duty (Claims 2-
6), then to Marquez’'s 8 510 claim (Claim 1pdafinally to Marquez’'sclaim for declaratory
relief (Claim 7).

In Claim 3, Marquez alleges that Flextraniareached its fiduciary duties by negotiating
an agreement with Verizon under which Verizoould hire Marquez and similarly situated
employees before their August 31, 2011 terminatiate. (DE 28 at 11.) He implies that the
agreement’s purpose was to deny him and similsituated Flextronics employees severance
benefits.

It is axiomatic that in order for some action to breach a fiduciary duty, the person
engaging in that action must befiduciary and acting in a fidueia capacity when taking the
challenged action. See Varity Corp. v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489, 498 (1996) (analyzing an
employer’s liability for allegedly breaching fiduciary duties by first deciding whether the
employer was acting in its capacity as an ERflaciary when taking the challenged action).
ERISA specifically envisions “that employers willtas a dual capacity asoth fiduciary to the
plan and as employer.Phillips v. Amoco Qil Co., 799 F.2d 1464, 1471 (11th Cir. 198&3cord
Varity, 516 U.S. 498-504. Employesse liable for breaching aBRISA fiduciary duty only
when they act as fiduciaries and not as employdtg. Phillips, 799 F.2d at 1471. So a



threshold question is whether Hiinics was acting as an employeras a fiduciary to the Plan
when it negotiated the agreement with Verizon.

ERISA provides that a “person is a fiduciawjith respect to a plan,” and therefore
subject to ERISA fiduciary duties, ‘to the extetitat he or she ‘exercises any discretionary
authority or discretionary confroespecting management’ of theap| or ‘*has any discretionary
authority or discretionary responsibility the administration’ of the plan.Varity, 516 U.S. at
498 (quoting ERISA 8§ 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(20). To decide whether an employer was
acting in a fiduciary capacity—that is, whethes tmployer was engaging in “discretionary acts
of plan management and administration”—dsushould examine whether the employer was
performing the duties imposed, ekercising the powers confedreby the planwhether the
powers exercised “are necessaryappropriate” for carrying out éhplan’s purposes; or whether
the employer is engaging in “activities that ardinary and naturaheans of achieving the
objective of the plan.ld. (internal quotation marks omitted).

Varity Corporation provides a useful illustration ahese principles in action. The
employer Varity Corporation created a new Whawned subsidiary to transfer debts and
money-losing divisions into because if the sdiasy failed, a possibilityVarity foresaw, it
“would not only eliminate several of Varity'soorly performing divisions, but it would also
eradicate various debts that Varity would transtefthe newly created subsidiary], and which,
in the absence of the reorganization, Varity's npooditable subsidiariesr divisions might have
to pay.” Id. at 493. One of these oldigons Varity hoped to beelieved from was a welfare-
benefit plan for its employees governed by ERISé. Varity wanted to persuade its employees
in the failing divisions to agree to transfeeithemployment to the mesubsidiary, which also
provided a welfare-benefit plathereby making the new subsidiary obligated for the employee
benefits instead of Varity’sore profitable subsidiariesld. To do this, Varity held a special
meeting for the employees where it “talked terthabout [the new subsidiaries] future business
outlook, its likely financialviability, and the securitpf their employee beffies. The thrust of
Varity’s remarks . . . was that the employeeshdfés would remain sece if they voluntarily
transferred to [the new subsidiary]ld. at 493-94. These remarks were deliberately deceptive.
Id. at 494, 506. When the new subsidiary endedatoond year in receivership, the employees

lost their benefitsinder the planld. at 494.



The employees sued Varity for breauiits fiduciary duties under ERISA by
deliberately deceiving them. Varity argueainong other things, that the statements and
materials it distributed at the special meeting weagle in its capacity as an employer, not as an
ERISA fiduciary, and thaherefore it could not be liable under ERISIL at 498.

The Supreme Court rejected this contentibeh. at 503. The Court began its reasoning
with the district court’'sinchallenged factual finding

that the key meeting, to a consideralgetent, was about benefits, for the
documents described them in detail, expdd the similarity between past and
future plans in principle, and assure@ #imployees that theyould continue to
receive similar benefits in practice. Thastrict Court concluded that the basic
message conveyed to the employees wadrdnadferring from eir old division]

to [the new subsidiary] would not sidicantly undermine thesecurity of their
benefits.

Id. at 501. From there, the Court reasoned ttiatstatements Varity made—which “convey[ed]
information about the likely future of plan bém&'—"would seem to be an exercise of a power
‘appropriate’ to carmpng out an important plan purposeld. at 502. Conveying information
about a plan to beneficiaries is sonweghplan administrators typically do.ld. And the
statements made by Varity came from high-lemaehagers who were authorized to communicate
as fiduciaries with @n beneficiariesld. at 503. So, based on “tfectual context in which the
statements were made, combined with the plan-related nature of the activity, [which was]
engaged in by those who had plan-related ait}htwr do so,” the correct legal conclusion was
that “Varity was acting as a fiduciary.l'd. Significantly, the majority clarified that it “did not
hold, as the dissent suggests, Matity acted as a fiduciary “simply because it made statements
about its expected financial condition lmgcause an ordinary business decision turned out to

have an adverse impact on the plan.” Id. at 505 (brackets, internaiitations, and internal
guotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).

Expanding on this last point, the Eleventinc@it has underscored that an employer is not
acting as fiduciary just because the employer gegian action that is harmful to its employees’
benefits under a planPhillips, 799 F.2d at 1467, 1471. Phillips, Amoco, the employer,
maintained a retirement plan for its employees governed by ERISAat 1466. Amoco
eventually sold its business to Norgadd. “The sales contract prowad that Norgas would offer
employment to each regular full-time employeé Amoco’s] at his or her current salary!d.
While the former Amoco employees who tookod with Norgas would receive retirement



benefits under Norgas’s plangtBales contract’s terms meardtttyears of service with Amoco
would not be credited for the purge of calculating benefits or determining eligibility for early
retirement” under Norgas’s plarid. The former Amoco employees thus lost valuable benefits
and sued Amoco and Norgas under ERISd.at 1467. They allegedmong other things, that
“Amoco and Norgas bargained away credit for years of service with Amoco when they
negotiated the sales contract, &®r violating . . . the provisiorsf ERISA” governing fiduciary
duties. Id. The district court granted summawgdgment to Amoco and Norgakd.

On appeal, the employees “argue[d] th&moco breached its fiduciary duty in
negotiating a higher sale price for its [busindsg]bargaining away credit for their years of
service with Amoco.”ld. at 1471. The Eleventh Circuit egted this argument, reasoning that
Amoco had acted as an employer, not a fidyciavhen it negotiated away years-of-service
credit in the course of sellints business in order to maximilee sale price: “ERISA does not
prohibit an employer from acting in accordamnsgh its interests as employer when not
administering the plan or investing its assédts. In other words, an employer’s action does not
become a fiduciary action simply because thébamegatively impacts its employees’ benefits
under a plan or the plan itselfSee id. The test is whether ¢hemployer is engaging in
discretionary acts of plan management or administration, not whether the action harms the
benefits of its employees under a plan.

Applying these principles, the Court camdés that Marquez has not plausibly alleged
that Flextronics was acting as a fiduciary when it allegedly negotiated the agreement with
Verizon over start dates. In negotiating ameagient with Verizon, a third-party company,
about when Flextronics’s employees would tstaith Verizon in a mass-layoff situation,
Flextronics was acting as an ployer, not a fiduciary. Flésonics was not performing the
duties imposed, or exercising the powers corte by the Plan; it was not exercising powers
that were necessary or appropriate for carrgingthe Plan’s purposes; and it was not engaging
in activities that are a natural meansaohieving the objectives of the Plafee Varity, 516 U.S.
at 502-505. It instead was negotiating with &rottcompany over when employees it was laying
off en masse would start with thewmpany. Employers certainly haaeight to do this. To be
sure, the new company need not negotiate Wit original employer—let alone reach an
agreement with the original employer—but tllaes not alter the condion that the original
employer certainly has the right to negotiate aath an agreement over start dates. Nor does it



transform such a negotiation into a disaeéry act concerning plan management or
administration. That the resulfj agreement may adversely impte ability of the employees

to collect severance benefits under ERISA plan, as it did in th@resent case, does not matter.

An employer’s action does not become a fiducietion simply because that action negatively
impacts its employees’ benefits undeplan or the plan itselfSee Phillips, 799 F.2d at 1471.
Because Flextronics was not acting as a fiduciary when it negotiated with Verizon over start
dates, the Coudismisses Marquez’s Claim 3.

That conclusion also compels the conclusiat @laims 2, 4, and 6 must be dismissed as
well because there is no plausibly alleged brezdnduciary duty to support them. Claim 2 is
that Defendants breached their fiduciary esitby violating the duties set forth in ERISA
8§ 404(a)(1)(A)(i-ii), (B), (D); Claim 3, that Ektronics, the Plan, anihe Committee violated
ERISA by breaching their fiduciary duty to momitmppointees; and claim 6, that Defendants are
jointly and severally liable foeach other’s breaches fduciary duty under ERISA § 405, 29
U.S.C. §1105. The alleged breach of fiduciduty at the heart of athese claims is that
Flextronics negotiated an agreement with Verizon over start dates. Marquez admits as much in
his brief when he argues that the reason Defendémes than Flextronics adiable for fiduciary
breach is because these Defendants were so tddsextronics that they were “complicit” in
Flextronics’s “wrongful conduct’—that is, negdiieg the deal with Verizon. (DE 35 at 12
n.11.) Since Flextronics was not acting as a falycand thus did not breach any fiduciary
duties, there was no wrongful conduct. Illdas that the other Defendants cannot be
derivatively liable for lawful conduct—regardless whether that liability is phrased as being
joint and several, as emanating from the failtw monitor appointees, or from the fiduciary
duties in § 404(a)(1)(A)(i-ii), (B), (D.

* In case Marquez attempts to replead these claire<Court cautions him that the claims as pled
may be insufficient even if the Court were tew@ase that Flextronics was acting in its fiduciary
capacity when it negotiated the death Verizon. Claims 2 anfl merely parrot the language of
the controlling ERISA provision. Gompare DE 28 at 9-11, 14vith ERISA § 404(a)(1)(A)(i-ii),
(B), (D) and 8§ 405. Pleadings thaffer “a formulaic recitation othe elements of a cause of
action” are insufficient under Rule 12(b)(6)gbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Withespect to Claim 4,
there must be an appointee in order for an apipgifiduciary to be liable for breaching the duty
to monitor an appointee. But Marquez fails tiege definitively that tere was an appointee.
Instead he alleges that “to tketent that any of the specifidDefendants had and/or exercised
the fiduciary power to appoint other fiduciari¢slarquez] allege[s] on information and belief
that those Defendants breached their duty tmitor.” (DE 28 at 12.) This is likely too



The only remaining fiduciary-breach claiim claim 5, in which Marquez alleges that
Defendants breached their fiduciary duties unBBISA by denying his claim for severance
benefits. (DE 28 at 13-14.) This claim is ihgabecause he fails to plausibly allege that
Defendants did not resolve his benefits clairméoordance with the Plan’s plain language. The
Plan provides, in relevant pathat “[tjhe Participant’s termation from the Company must be
involuntary, as determined by the Compang participant who voluntarily resigns his/her
employment with the Company prior to his/her atiavoluntary terminatin date is not eligible
for benefits under this Severan®lan.” (DE 28-1 at 4.)In the May 2011 Her notifying
Marquez and similarly situated employees thair termination datevould be August 31, 2011,
Flextronics states: “[tj@oeceive severance benefits you wik@be required toemain employed
by Flextronics through your Employment Terminatate . . .. If youchoose to resign your
employment prior to your Employment Termiiom Date, you will not be eligible to receive
severance benefits.” (DE 28-22) Marquez alleges that erked for Flextronics through at
least August 27, 2011. (DE 28 at 6.) DefendantsedeMarquez’s claim for benefits because
“he voluntarily resigned his pit®n prior to the Severance Date of 8/31/11 to work for
Verizon.” (d. at 7; DE 28-6 at 2.) Because Marquez did not work through the designated
termination date of August 31, and because BRlan’s language expressly provides that
employees who voluntarily resign their employmerfoletheir termination date are not eligible
for severance benefits, there is no evidencettiemtdefendants abused their discretion or acted
arbitrarily or capriciously in denying Marquezxenefits claim. The QGot therefore dismisses
claim 5.

Marquez attempts to save this claim by arguing that the Court should reform the Plan so
that it provides that if Flextronics arranges fortiggpants to be hired less than one week before
their termination date, then those participaants not considered to V& voluntarily resigned.
Once reformed, the Court can determine that Defesdailed to pay him beefits in accordance
with the reformed Plan and order them to pay¢hosnefits. (DE 28 at 1B4; DE 35 at 16-18.)

speculative to constitute a plausible claim tlfendants breached their duty to monitor
appointees. And even if Marquez had alled¢feat there was an appointee, Marquez fails to
allege that any appointing fidiacy had notice or knol@dge of an appointee’s breach. (DE 28
at 12.) Instead Marquez conclubp alleges that éreach of the duty to monitor must have
occurred because had the appointing fiducigsteperly monitored their appointees, they would
have taken action to prent the alleged breachHd. Without any facts t&ding to establish that
the appointing fiduciarieBad notice or knowledge, Mguez’s claim must fail.



Reformation is not available to Marquez undiim 5 because he bases this claim on ERISA
8§ 502(a)(1)(B) and the Supreme Court has Hiedd this section—which “speaks @nforcing’
the ‘terms of the plan,” not athanging them”—does not authorize a court to reform a plan.
CIGNA Corp. v. Amara, 131 S. Ct. 1866, (2011) (quoting ERISA 8§ 502(a)(1)(B)) (brackets
omitted).

Turning to Claim 1, Marquez allegethat Defendants violated ERISA 8§ 510 by
interfering with his protected rights.Section 510 of ERISA maget “unlawful for any person
to discharge, fine, suspend, expel, disciplinejiscriminate against a participant or beneficiary
for exercising any right to which he is entitledder the provisions &n employee benefit plan
[or by statute], . . . or for the purpose of interfgrmith the attainment ainy right to which such
participant may become entitledder the plan [or by statute].Since 8§ 510 potentially reaches
“any person,” Marquez does not need to allege that Flextronics was acting as a fiduciary when it
negotiated with Verizon.Section 510 has two distinct clagsgrotecting against two types of
conduct: an exercise or anti-retaliation clausmyéring adversarial actions . . . taken because a
participant availed himself of an ERISA right’and an interferencelause (“which covers
interference with th attainment of a ght under ERISA”). Mattei v. Mattel, 126 F.3d 794, 797
n.4 (6th Cir. 1997). Marquez sexko use the interference clause, alleging that Flextronics’s
negotiating with Verizon over start dates interfered with his becoming eligible for severance
benefits under the Plan. (The exercise claloss not fit the present case because Marquez was
never entitled to severance béitse As the Court discusseabove when analyzing Claim 5,
Marquez was properly denied severance bengfiter the Plan’s terms because he did not work
through the termination date.)

The parties vigorously dispute whether &1®-interference claim requires a plaintiff to
allege that the defendant interfered by takingudwerse employment action against the plaintiff.

That's because Marguez has not allege@ddwrerse-employment action in Claim 1Seq DE 28

® Although Marquez brings this &n against Defendants, thelpmefendant that the Claim
could possibly be valid against is Flextronickhe interference Marquez alleges is actionable is
Flextronics’s negotiating the agreement with Veniover start dates. Because Flextronics is the
entity that engaged in this negotiation, and because Marquszndbeallege in his Amended
Complaint that other Defendants particightdet alone materially participated—in the
negotiation, it follows that theris no valid § 510 claim againste other Defendants. This
conclusion is buttressed by thew@t's holding, discussed belowathMarquez has failed to state
a valid 8§ 510 claim against even Flextronics.



at 1-9.) In a thorough opiniorthe Sixth Circuit concluded that while § 510 was designed
“primarily to protect the emplayent relationship” thagives rise to an employee’s ability to
attain rights under a plan, § 5%0protections extend beyondettemployment relationship.
Mattei, 126 F.2d at 801. With respet the anti-retaliation clausdjattei held that § 510’s
laundry list of prohibitedconduct—discharge, fine, suspengpel, discipline, or discriminate—
should be interpreted to mean “any adverse actioil.” 805-06. Mattei involved the anti-
retaliation clause, so the Courtddnot have occasion to explicate the interference clause as
clearly, butMattei seems to suggest that 8 510’s prohibitedduct in the conteéof that clause
should be interpreted to mean an adverse achiahis causally connected to the plaintiff's
ability to receive an identifiable benefit—thes, an adverse action thaiterferes with the
plaintiff attaining a right under ERISALd. at 808. Althoughhe Court finddMattel persuasive,

it is not binding precedent. And several other circuit courts have used language suggesting that
8§ 510 protects only the employment relatiapshwhich therefore means than an adverse
employment action must be allegeé.g. Haberen v. Kaupp Vascular Surgeons Ltd. Defined
Benefit Plan, 24 F.3d 1491, 1503 (3d Cit994) (reasoning thaliscriminate—the only term in

§ 510's list of prohibited conductdhis capable of broad im@etation—"should be limited to
actions affecting the employer-employee relationghid’he Eleventh Circuit arguably falls into
this camp. InSeaman v. Arvida Realty Sales, the Eleventh Circuit repeatedly invoked the term
discharge or constructive discharge when formulating general propositions describing how to
determine if 8 510 claims were valid:

[tlhe validity of a § 510 claim does nbinge upon whether ¢hbenefits involved

are vested but upon the purpose of therdisge. ... This standard does not
require the plaintiff to show interference with ERISA rights was the sole reason
for discharge but does require plaintiffgbow more than the incidental loss of
benefits as a result of a discharge.

985 F.2d 543, 546 (11th Cir. 1993). Althou§kaman’'s language suggests that the Eleventh
Circuit limit 8 510 claims to adverse employment actidsman does not clearly resolve the
issue because Seaman, the plaintiffthiat case, was in fact terminateldl. at 544, 546. So the
Eleventh Circuit did not need to decidehether § 510 extends beyond the employment
relationship.

The Court in the present case similarly need not decide which camp the Eleventh Circuit

falls into because no prejudice will restiit Marquez from assumg, without deciding, the



correctness of the more narrow view that § $ldims must allege aadverse employment
action. Marquez has not specifically alleged thatsuffered an adverse employment action at
Flextronics’s hands. But in his brief, he argues fflextronics’s negotiating an earlier start date
with Verizon constructively discharged him. E[35 at 9-10.) He contends that the agreement
forced him and similarly situated employeehmose between a job and/iesence benefits at a
time when Florida’s unemployment rate was 10.7%l.) (Had Flextronics not negotiated the
deal with Verizon, he would have been atdework through August 31, collect his severance
benefits, and still hava job at Verizon. 1fl.) He instead was forcdd resign early—which is
constructive discharge by another name—tsat he could remain employedid.Y And he
contends that Flextronics negotiated this deat#jgally to deprive him of severance benefits,
thereby reducing its costsld() Had these facts been pledhis Second Amended Complaint,
they would have plausibly suggedtthat Flextronics took an adverse action. But they weren't,
and Marquez may not amend his complaint through briefs opposing a motion to dismiss.
Fleming v. Dowdell, 434 F. Supp. 2d 1138, 1148 n.9 (M.DaAR005). The Court therefore
dismisses Marquez’'s Claim Iithout prejudice.

If Marquez were to amend his complaint tkegé that he was constructively discharged,
and if he were to also allege the facts adduedds brief to support thisontention—such as the
10.7% unemployment existing at the time he tm@dhoose between Wiag a job and getting
severance benefits—he wouldat& a plausible claim for relief. Since Marquez can and
presumably will amend his Second Amended Compl@ state a cognizable § 510 claim, he
suffers no prejudice from the Court assumingtheut deciding, that amdverse employment
action must be alleged in the Eleventh Circuit.

That brings the Court to Marquez’s firdhim—Claim 7—in which he seeks declaratory
relief. Claim 7 is predicated on Defemd& having committed wrongful conduct, thereby
authorizing the Court to enter declaratory relief that serves to rectify that wrongful conduct. But
since the Court is dismissing Marez’'s Claims 1-6, there is naapkible allegation that Marquez
has committed wrongful conduct. So there is mgtho ground the clainfor declaratory relief
on. The Court therefordismisses this claim.

Before concluding, there is one other matterth discussing. In the fact section of
Marquez’'s Second Amended Complaint, hesoalalleges on information and belief that
Flextronics effectively terminated him anandarly situated employees on August 27, 2011 by



ceasing its payroll on that datgDE 28 at 6.) This allegatiors inconsistent with several
allegations in the Second Amended Complaint.rgdaz repeatedly requests as relief that the
Court deem him and similarly situated employees to haveveolohtarily terminated their
employment with Flextronics so that they angible for full severance benefits, and to reform
the Plan so that it provides that if Flextronics arranges for participants to be hired less than one
week before their termination date, then thparticipants are not considered to heslentarily
resigned. (Id. at 9-15.) If Flextronicseally stopped paying Marquez and the other similarly
situated on August 27, then there is no need to declare that those employees did not voluntarily
terminate their employment or to reform the plan in the manner Marquez seeks. Flextronics’s
stopping payroll for these employees woutdsdluntarily terminate them. Moreover, the
repeated allegations that Flextronics ingurBlarquez and similarly situated employees by
negotiating the agreement with N@on for an August 29 start tawould be undercut. If
employees had already been terminated bytkleics’'s stopping theipayroll on August 27, an
August 29 start date with Verizon would not matt&he allegations that Flextronics negotiated
the deal to avoid paying sevac® benefits would also be umdet. And, contrary to what
Marquez alleges, there would be no need for thetGowltecide issues of fact and law relating to
the agreement Flextronics and Verizon struckd. &t 17.) That deal would be irrelevant.
Although Marquez may allege faats the alterntive, the Court is struck by how much of his
complaint is rendered irrelevant by the ceasing-payroll allegation.

The mystery thickens when Marquez’s bie@posing the motion to dismiss is considered
because the arguments in the brief proceed ethiory that the wrongful conduct is negotiating
the agreement with Verizon. The ceasing-phyatiegation is never adduced in support of
substantive arguments. For example, Marqaleuies in support of $i8 510 claim not that
Flextronics effectively terminated him by ceasipgyroll, but rather that it constructively
discharged him by negotiating théerizon agreement. (DE 35 at 9.) He also argues that
Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by tiagog the Verizon agreement. (DE 35 at 12
n.11.) And Marquez’s affidavit attached to the baeers that Flextronics effectively terminated
his employment on August 27, but it does not averitditl so by ceasing payroll. (DE 35-1 at
2.) The affidavit could thus be interpreted ambeonsistent with the argument that Flextronics
effectively terminated Marquez and other simylssituated employees by negotiating the deal

with Verizon.



Because Marquez does not rely on the cpasgeell allegation for the arguments in his
brief, and because that allegation is inconsistatit much of his Second Amended Complaint,
the Court decides—as Marquez himself has applsrdecided—to not relpn that allegation in
the above analysis. If Marquez amends theraipe complaint and he decides to keep the
cease-payroll allegation, then he should pedgispell out how thisallegation affects the
substantive claims and either resolve the insteiscy between this allegation and the Verizon-
agreement allegation, or—since sty that inconsistency strikethe Court as being hard to
do—explicitly plead his claims for relief asibg alternatively based on either Flextronics’s
ceasing payroll or negotiating the agreement Wighizon. Marquez’s attorney must also keep
in mind his Rule 11 obligations when amendingdperative complaint. Flextronics insists that
it can offer evidence that hundreds of employeedaily situated to Marquez did in fact work
through August 31. (DE 40 at 2 n.1.) The Court wilt take kindly to allegations that lack a

good-faith basis for believing they are true.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, the C&RANTS Defendants’ Motion (DE 31).
Marquez's Second Amende@omplaint (DE 28) isDISMISSED without preudice. |If
Marquez wishes to file an amended complaint, he must do so by October 16, 2013. The motion
for a oral argument (DE 41) denied as moot.
DONE AND ORDERED in chambers in Miami, Florida on September 30, 2013.

ROBERT N. SCOLA, JR.
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE



